ISSUE BRIEF

THE FAILURES OF THE WARRON ON THE FAILURES OF THE THE FAILURES OF THE WARRON OF THE WARRON OF THE WARROW OF THE WA



Friends Committee on National Legislation Lobbying with Quakers

ISSUE BRIEF

The Failures of the War on Terror

WRITTEN BY

Julia Gledhill, program associate for militarism and human rights

WITH EDITORIAL ASSISTANCE FROM

Heather Brandon-Smith, legislative director, militarism and human rights Elizabeth Beavers, consultant Diana Ohlbaum, legislative director, foreign policy

Published August 2022 by the Friends Committee on National Legislation (FCNL). The Friends Committee on National Legislation is a Quaker nonprofit that promotes civic engagement to advance peace, justice, and environmental stewardship.

Bridget Moix, FCNL general secretary Eric Bond, editor » Wesley Wolfbear Pinkham, designer

ISBN

978-1-7373704-3-7

LICENSE

This work is licensed under the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial 4.0 International License. To view a copy of this license, visit *creativecommons.org* or send a letter to Creative Commons, PO Box 1866, Mountain View, CA 94042, USA.



ISSUE BRIEF The Failures of the War on Terror

Table of Contents

Background4
I. Introduction
a. How is the War on Terror fundamentally new and different?5
<i>b. The core problem: "terrorism" as the enemy</i> 5
c. Goals in the War on Terror6
II. How has the United States failed to achieve the goals of the War on Terror?
a. More attacks
b. More fighters and groups willing to engage in terrorism7
c. More civilian harm
d. Failure to deny terrorists sanctuary and eliminate safe havens8
III. Why has the War on Terror failed?
<i>a.</i> It's counterproductive, fueling conflict and recruitment9
<i>b.</i> The concept of safe havens is a myth
IV. Why should the United States abandon the war paradigm as a counterterrorism tool?
a. The terror threat is overblown
b. Non-military tools are far more effective at protecting us from terrorism
c. The War on Terror has been exceptionally costly and destructive14
V. Conclusion
VI. What Members of Congress Can Do16
Further Reading
Endnotes

Background

In September 2021, U.S. President Joe Biden told the United Nations, "I stand here today, for the first time in 20 years, with the United States not at war. We've turned the page."¹

Unfortunately, this was not true. Although the president withdrew U.S. ground troops from Afghanistan, he made it clear that air and drone strikes would remain an option for dealing with "any resurgent terrorist challenge emerging or emanating from Afghanistan."²

From 2018 to 2020, the United States conducted militarized counterterrorism operations in 85 countries around the world, including air and drone strikes in at least seven countries.³ This was up from 80 countries in the prior two years.⁴ Most of these operations are conducted with limited congressional oversight and little public knowledge.

Rather than bringing an end to our forever wars, the Biden administration has continued to conduct lethal operations—employing the euphemistic term "over the horizon" strikes⁵—and to prioritize and promote around the world a militarized approach to counterterrorism.

The Friends Committee on National Legislation (FCNL) believes the U.S. War on Terror—the use of war and other military means to defeat terrorist groups—is based on a flawed proposition. It is simply not possible through the use of armed force to eliminate armed groups who engage in terrorism. Indeed, evidence shows that only 7% of terrorist groups have been "quelled by a military effort."⁶

Rather, two decades of a militarized approach to terrorism has caused almost incalculable harm, both at home and abroad. It has killed and injured hundreds of thousands of innocent civilians, most of them Black, brown, and/or Muslim; displaced millions and put them at increased risk of malnutrition, disease, and exploitation; caused severe environmental destruction and exacerbated the climate crisis; and cost U.S. taxpayers over \$8 trillion.⁷

These results were both predictable and preventable. We write this brief to provide details of how the United States failed to achieve the goals for the so-called War on Terror and to explain the reasons why.

FCNL is a national, nonpartisan Quaker organization that lobbies Congress for peace, justice, and environmental stewardship. Our advocacy is driven by the Quaker belief in the inherent dignity and worth of each person and is carried out by our grassroots network and registered lobbyists on Capitol Hill. We seek a world free of war and the threat of war and a society with equity and justice for all.

It is simply not possible through the use of armed force to eliminate armed groups who engage in terrorism. Indeed, evidence shows that only 7% of terrorist groups have been "quelled by a military effort."

I. Introduction

a. How is the War on Terror fundamentally new and different?

On September 20, 2001, President Bush announced the beginning of the U.S.led global War on Terror⁸, fundamentally changing the way that the United States addressed the challenge of terrorism. Until then, the U.S. government had treated acts of terrorism, even those planned and perpetrated by foreign armed groups, primarily as a matter for law enforcement.

Indeed, authorities immediately pursued law enforcement action following al Qaeda's bombing of the World Trade Center in 1993, which was one of the deadliest acts of international terrorism ever carried out on U.S. soil.⁹ Four of the attackers were quickly arrested, tried in civilian courts, convicted, and each sentenced to 240 years in prison.¹⁰ By the fall of 1997, two additional attackers had been sentenced to life in prison, including the mastermind of the attack, Ramzi Yousef.¹¹

The decision to later treat the September 11 attacks as an act of war, rather than as a crime, was not "necessary or inevitable."¹² Yet this choice served as the premise for a new global war paradigm.¹³ Under this paradigm, the U.S. government assumed wide authority to detain, interrogate, torture, surveil, arm, and kill people around the world in the name of eliminating the threat posed by transnational terrorism.

As President Bush declared, the so-called War on Terror "begins with Al Qaeda, but it does not end there. It will not end until every terrorist group of global reach has been found, stopped, and defeated."¹⁴

By this metric, the War on Terror had no clear limits and no realistic possibility of ever being completed. Twenty years later, it rages on. Yet the evidence is clear: military force has not eliminated or even decreased terrorism. It has only helped it spread and grow, with destructive consequences.

b. The core problem: "terrorism" as the enemy

The War on Terror label itself demonstrates the inherent impossibility of this war ever being successful because it does not identify a specific enemy. The concept of "terrorism" itself also lacks certainty. There is no established definition of terrorism within international law.¹⁵ U.S. domestic law defines the word as "violent acts or acts dangerous to human life" that "appear to be intended to intimidate or coerce a civilian population, to influence the policy of a government by intimidation or coercion, or to affect the conduct of a government by mass destruction, assassination, or kidnapping."¹⁶

The War on Terror had no clear limits and no realistic possibility of ever being completed. Twenty years later, it rages on. Ultimately, terrorism is a tactic, not an ideology, and it has been used for centuries by groups with a wide variety of ethnic, religious, political, national, and geographic identities and affiliations. It is impossible to successfully fight a war against a tactic, and continuing to claim otherwise obfuscates existing policy failures, scapegoats already marginalized communities, and justifies more bad policies.

Terms like terrorism and terrorist have been weaponized against people of color and religious minorities, namely against Muslims,¹⁷ residing both within and outside the United States. Politicians and media personalities have disproportionately used terrorist to describe perpetrators of violence who are Muslim, but rarely those who are white and Christian or of other faiths.¹⁸

In doing so, they have worked to dehumanize Muslims, while failing to properly address the growing threat of white supremacist terrorism, which, both government and independent studies confirm is far and away the greatest threat to the U.S. homeland.¹⁹

c. Goals in the War on Terror

Putting aside the problem of declaring war on terrorism—a tactic rather than a particular enemy—we can assess the extent to which the War on Terror has succeeded or failed by examining the extent to which it has resulted in a reduction in the number of terrorist attacks, terrorist groups, members of these groups, and harm caused to civilians, as well as the goals articulated by the executive branch of "denying terrorists sanctuary" and "eliminating safe havens."²⁰

An examination of empirical evidence demonstrates that after 20 years, it is abundantly clear that the United States government has failed to meet the goals of the War on Terror. Not only has it failed to reduce the threat of global terrorism, but it has actually helped to increase it; all while taking an enormous human, environmental, and financial toll.

II. How has the United States failed to achieve the goals of the War on Terror?

a. More attacks

- Between 2001 and 2018, annual terror attacks worldwide increased fivefold.²¹
- From 2001 to 2015, the annual number of terror attacks rose by 1,900% in the seven countries where the United States has either conducted air strikes or militarily invaded.²²

It is impossible to successfully fight a war against a tactic.

Not only has [the United States government] failed to reduce the threat of global terrorism, but it has actually helped to increase it; all while taking an enormous human, environmental, and financial toll.

- A 2018 RAND Corporation study, found that unless paired with United Nations peacekeeping operations, U.S. security assistance programs in Africa conducted in the post-Cold War period had no statistically significant effect on levels of terrorism.²³
- In 2020, there were at least 1,000 attacks, massacres, and other violent incidents linked to terror groups across Burkina Faso, Mali, and Niger—a sevenfold increase since 2017, when all three countries entered a U.S.-supported joint force to combat terrorism.²⁴

b. More fighters and groups willing to engage in terrorism

- A Center for Strategic and International Studies (CSIS) found that there were an estimated 230,000 Sunni Islamist-inspired fighters willing and able to use violence to achieve their goals in 2018, amounting to an increase of 270% since 2001.²⁵
- The CSIS study also found that as of 2018, there were more groups engaging in terrorism, with an estimated 67 groups, the highest level since 1980.²⁵
- The State Department's own list of designated Foreign Terrorist Organizations has grown from 28 before September 11, 2021, to 68 in 2022..²⁶

c. More civilian harm

- Since the post-9/11 wars began, over 387,000 civilians have been killed as a direct result of fighting.²⁷ This figure doesn't include the civilians who have died as an indirect result of war, including water loss, sewage and other infrastructural issues, and war-related disease.
- Over the last 20 years, it has become clear that there are significant systemic problems with the approach to mitigating, responding to, and accounting for civilian harm caused by U.S. operations.²⁸ Ongoing issues include the misidentification of civilians as terrorist targets and the failure to identify the presence of civilians prior to conducting lethal strikes.
- In a tragic illustrative example, the U.S. government conducted a drone strike amidst the withdrawal from Afghanistan and claimed to have eliminated an imminent threat from an ISIS affiliate.²⁹ Instead, the targeted individual was actually an aid worker. The strike killed 10 civilians, including seven children, and no fighters.

There are nearly four times as many fighters willing and able to use violence to achieve their goals as there were pre-9/11.

d. Failure to deny terrorists sanctuary and eliminate safe havens

- The goal of eliminating from earth a physical location from which terrorist groups coordinate attacks has always been deeply problematic because it represents a fundamental misunderstanding about how terrorist groups operate. Terror groups do not need dedicated physical spaces to plan attacks.³⁰ As the 9/11 Commission Report found, the 9/11 hijackers did most of the planning for the attacks online, with Afghanistan being merely "incidental to the attack's planning."³¹
- What has eventuated as a consequence of efforts to destroy physical "safe havens" has been the growth of transnational terror networks. The al Qaeda network, for example, has grown substantially since the United States began trying to eliminate its operational space in Afghanistan. Before the 9/11 attacks, al Qaeda's core membership totaled under 150 members, and the group was divided.³² When the United States invaded Afghanistan, al Qaeda went global. The group was able to forge relationships and deepen connections with communities impacted by U.S. military operations—connections the al Qaeda network reputedly depends on for its resilience and proliferation.³³
- Rather that eliminating terrorist groups from the countries in which they operate, U.S. global military operations, including the 2003 invasion of Iraq and the backing of a Saudi effort to dismantle a burgeoning branch of al Qaeda in the country, have contributed to the emergence and growth of terrorist groups throughout the Middle East and Africa.³⁴ These groups include al Qaeda in the Arabian Peninsula (AQAP), the Nusra Front, al Qaeda in the Islamic Maghreb (AQIM), al Qaeda in the Indian Subcontinent (AQIS), and al Shabaab.³⁵

These findings illustrate that rather than diminishing terror groups and their ability to carry out attacks, the U.S. insistence on treating these groups as combatants in a war and seeking to defeat them militarily has only strengthened them, while distracting attention from more urgent challenges and more effective solutions.

Before the 9/11 attacks, al Qaeda's core membership totaled under 150 members, and the group was divided. When the United States invaded Afghanistan, al Qaeda went global.

III. Why has the War on Terror failed?

a. It's counterproductive, fueling conflict and recruitment

Throughout the War on Terror, the United States has helped create the conditions for terror groups to exploit instability and grow their networks. Indeed, U.S. military intervention has fueled conflict, which is the primary driver of terrorism.³⁶

Over the past 20 years, the countries in which the U.S. military has been most heavily engaged became the countries most impacted by terrorism.³⁷ According to the Global Terrorism Index, Iraq was the country most impacted by terrorism 2004–2017.³⁸ Deaths resulting from terrorism in Iraq fell by 75% from 2017 to 2018, coinciding with the drawdown of U.S. troops from the country to one of the lowest levels seen since U.S. invasion in 2003.³⁹ Afghanistan overtook Iraq as the country most affected by terrorism in 2018 and remained so in 2019, accounting for 41% of deaths from terrorism globally.⁴⁰

Outside of ground combat, the United States carries out targeted strikes of "high-profile" individuals suspected of terrorism, a strategy known as "leadership decapitation."⁴¹ The stated goal is to disrupt and degrade armed groups' ability to carry out attacks, thereby preventing the reconstitution of the terror group itself.⁴² However, the strategy of leadership decapitation has been found "ineffective at best and counterproductive at worst."⁴³

Killing individual members of a terror group does not dismantle the group entirely. If it did, the al Qaeda network would have fallen apart a long time ago. Instead, al Qaeda has been transformed from a small, hierarchical group to a decentralized, international network, impervious to the threat of "leadership decapitation."⁴⁴ As long as the underlying sources of grievances remain unaddressed, armed groups are able to simply replace deceased leaders with new ones, as evidenced by the many times the United States has claimed to have killed al Qaeda's "number three" leader.⁴⁵

Rather than dismantling terror groups, lethal targeting contributes to their recruitment efforts. U.S. lethal force regularly results in civilian casualties.⁴⁶ Terror groups take advantage of this, using civilian harm from U.S. military operations to win the sympathies of impacted communities.

U.S. militarism abroad has helped create the conditions for terror groups to exploit instability and grow their networks.

The strategy of leadership decapitation has been found "ineffective at best and counterproductive at worst." Indeed, both the al Qaeda network and ISIS have used U.S. strikes as propaganda tools to stoke resentment against American and other foreign forces and to bolster recruitment.⁴⁷

The anti-American resentment generated by U.S. military operations abroad has also made the United States more susceptible to attack. According to a study examining the correlation between military participation and terrorist attacks, the citizens of countries that contributed ground forces for the wars in Afghanistan and Iraq have been attacked at a greater frequency by al Qaeda and groups that affiliate with al Qaeda.⁴⁸ This effect is known as "blowback," a term originally coined by the Central Intelligence Agency (CIA) to describe the residual damaging effects of U.S. militarism.⁴⁹

U.S. military intervention has repeatedly exacerbated the problem of terrorism. The war in Iraq paved the way for terror groups to develop in the country. Prior to U.S. intervention, Iraq had no meaningful ties to al Qaeda.⁵⁰ The destabilization of the country contributed to the rise of al Qaeda in Iraq (AQI), which eventually became ISIS.⁵¹

U.S. military activities that do not rise to the level of full-scale war have also helped exacerbate instability and increase terrorism. The United States has spent the better part of the past two decades training foreign forces to conduct their own localized wars on terror.

Programs that ostensibly offer "training and assistance" to foreign security forces as a means of counterterrorism have been conducted in 36 countries between 2002 and 2016 at a cost of \$125 billion.⁵² These programs also give rise to billions of dollars in sales of weapons and military equipment by U.S. companies to partner governments.⁵³

Yet, according to evidence, rather than defeating terrorism abroad, such programs have increased or even created it. Burkina Faso, for instance, has received counterterrorism funding and assistance from the United States since 2009⁵⁴—even though U.S. officials identified no threats of terrorism in the country at the time.⁵⁵Today, the Burkinabe people face a heightened threat of terrorism from both al Qaeda affiliates and ISIS members.⁵⁶ Since 2015, 1,034,609 people—over 60% of whom are children—have been internally displaced because of instances of terrorism.

Ultimately, the War on Terror, from ground combat operations to lethal strikes to promoting and facilitating a military response to terrorism by foreign forces, has increased the threat of terrorism and made people less safe. Prior to U.S. intervention, Iraq had no meaningful ties to al Qaeda.

The United States has spent the better part of the past two decades training foreign forces to conduct their own localized wars on terror.

b. The concept of safe havens is a myth.

After 9/11, President Bush promised to pursue nations that provide "aid or safe haven to terrorism," calling any such nation a "hostile regime."⁵⁷ Since then, denying terror groups safe haven has been a rallying cry of the War on Terror, repeated by the Obama, Trump, and Biden administrations alike to justify military actions.⁵⁸

But the goal of eliminating a physical location for armed groups to coordinate stems from a fundamental misconception about how terror groups function. Terror groups do not need dedicated physical spaces to operate.⁵⁹

Ironically, the key example demonstrating this comes from the planning process for the 9/11 attacks. The 9/11 hijackers did most of their planning for the attacks online, often via public email and on wireless networks accessed in hotels and public establishments throughout the United States.⁶⁰ To the extent that planning was conducted in person, this was carried out in Spain and Germany.⁶¹ Afghan soil was not necessary to plan and carry out the attacks. In reality, so-called safe havens are largely a myth.⁶²

The misguided and unrealistic U.S. focus on eliminating physical safe havens also ignores the more pressing issue of virtual organizing by terror groups, which posed a significant challenge even in 2001 and has only grown since. Today, the internet and social media are the most commonly used tools for terror groups to recruit members, garner financial support, and plan and carry out attacks.⁶³

Terror groups still share propaganda in the form of speeches and text, but most have expanded their online presence to social media platforms like Twitter, Facebook, and even online dating sites.⁶⁴ ISIS has quite successfully harnessed the power of social media to recruit tens of thousands of supporters virtually.⁶⁵ On the whole, terror groups live and operate in the virtual reality of the 21st century. Military intervention hasn't and won't do anything to change that.

Equally important, efforts to destroy physical safe havens have contributed to the growth of transnational terror networks. The al Qaeda network, for example, has grown substantially since the United States began trying to eliminate its operational space in Afghanistan.

Preceding the 9/11 attacks, al Qaeda's core membership totaled under 200 members, and the group was divided.⁶⁶ Bin Laden had attempted to unify them and garner new members through the 1998 embassy bombings in Kenya and Tanzania, to no avail.⁶⁷ He decided to go bigger, planning the 9/11 attacks out of desperation to legitimize and grow the group.

Terror groups do not need dedicated physical spaces to operate. Ironically, the key example demonstrating this comes from the planning process of the 9/11 attacks.

On the whole, terror groups live and operate in the virtual reality of the 21st century. Military intervention hasn't and won't do anything to change that. When the United States invaded Afghanistan, al Qaeda went global—just as Bin Laden hoped. Counterterrorism analyst Leah Farrall writes that "the 9/11 attacks were designed to incite an armed retaliation that would get U.S. boots on Afghan soil."⁶⁸

All went according to plan, with U.S. military intervention and subsequent occupation of Afghanistan, and later Iraq, fueling the growth of al Qaeda's network. These wars bolstered the group's ability to forge relationships and deepen connections with communities impacted by U.S. military operations—connections the al Qaeda network reputedly depends on for its resilience and proliferation.⁶⁹

Today, al Qaeda has many affiliates with varying depths of ties, including in the Arabian Peninsula (AQAP), the Islamic Maghreb (AQIM), the Indian Subcontinent (AQIS), and the Horn of Africa (al Shabaab).⁷⁰

IV. Why should the United States abandon the war paradigm as a counterterrorism tool?

a. The terror threat is overblown

Simply put, evidence does not support the notion that international terrorism poses the existential threat to the United States indicated by U.S. counterterrorism policy. The likelihood of dying in an attack orchestrated or supported by a transnational terror group is extremely low. Americans remain more likely to die choking on food than to be killed in an attack by a transnational terror group.⁷¹ Since 9/11, 107 people in the United States have died in attacks by individuals or groups accused of affiliating with a foreign terror group.⁷² By contrast, on a single day in December 2020, the daily COVID-19 death toll in the United States exceeded that on 9/11.⁷³

Further, the Federal Bureau of Investigation, the Department of Homeland Security, and other law enforcement sources have all confirmed that today, individuals motivated to commit violence by white supremacy and other far right ideologies pose the greatest domestic threat to national security.⁷⁴

According to the Anti-Defamation League, more than 75% of the approximately 435 terror attacks in the United States between 2010 and 2019 were carried out by domestic right-wing individuals.⁷⁵ In 2019 alone, over 90% of 42 lethal terror attacks were conducted by people motivated by far right ideologies.⁷⁶ Only one of the 46 failed terror plots in the United States between 2018 and 2020 was directed by a foreign organization.⁷⁷

[T]oday, individuals motivated to commit violence by white supremacy and other far right ideologies pose the greatest domestic threat to national security.

Only one of the 46 failed terror plots in the United States between 2018 and 2020 was directed by a foreign organization. Rather than transnational terrorism, the bigger threats to Americans' daily lives come from racial and economic injustice, climate chaos, gun violence, and the ongoing pandemic. U.S. counterterrorism wars do nothing to counter these threats. To the contrary, endless wars take resources and attention away from properly addressing more pressing challenges and can actively exacerbate them.

b. Non-military tools are far more effective at protecting us from terrorism

The limitlessness of the War on Terror is perhaps its biggest failure. Policy analyst and terrorism expert David Sterman writes that endless wars happen when "a belligerent adopts objectives while lacking the capability to achieve said objectives," all while "the belligerent is also not at risk of being defeated itself."⁷⁸ The War on Terror certainly meets these standards; the United States has fought counterterrorism wars for twenty years with no achievable objective and no risk of being defeated.

Still, some argue that the War on Terror has been successful simply because there hasn't been another 9/11-style terror attack on American soil since 2001. This argument ignores the fact that since 9/11, potential acts of terror have been disrupted by intelligence sharing among governments, followed by arrests and prosecutions.⁷⁹

As former senior director for counterterrorism at the National Security Council Luke Hartig has said, "As the U.S. military has fought seemingly endless overseas wars, other parts of the government have simultaneously built a layered defense that has arguably been far more effective than military operations at keeping the country safe."⁸⁰

Further evidence supports the notion that non-military means are far more successful in defeating terrorism. In a study of 648 terror groups, researchers found that only 7% of such groups ended as a result of a military effort.⁸¹ Terrorist groups were more likely to achieve victory (10%) than they were to be disbanded through military force. The other 83% of terrorist groups ceased their operations as the result of either a policing effort (40%) or incorporation of the group into the political process (43%).

The reality is that the horrific 9/11 attacks were an outlier. They were not representative of the actual threat that transnational terrorism poses to the U.S. homeland, and war is not the means to successfully counter any such threat. The armed groups that have scattered across the world since 2001 have interests and capabilities that are primarily focused regionally. By exacerbating conflict instead of addressing root causes, the U.S. War on Terror perpetuates endless cycles of violence in which innocent civilians pay the heaviest price.

The United States has fought counterterrorism wars for twenty years with no achievable objective and no risk of being defeated.

c. The War on Terror has been exceptionally costly and destructive

The ruinous effects of the War on Terror are far-reaching and permanent in the lives of millions, both internationally and domestically.

Twenty years of continuous war hasn't benefitted anyone (except defense contractors and equipment manufacturers).⁸² Abroad, the United States' post-9/11 wars have displaced at least 38 million people in and from Afghanistan, Pakistan, Iraq, Libya, Syria, Yemen, Somalia, and the Philippines.⁸³ An estimated 929,000 people have died as a direct result of these wars, including over 387,000 civilians and 7,052 U.S. servicemembers.⁸⁴ U.S. active-duty personnel and veterans of the post-9/11 wars also suffer high suicide rates.⁸⁵ It's estimated that 30,177 current and former servicemembers have died by suicide, at least four times as many as those who died in combat.⁸⁶

The War on Terror has also brought great environmental and financial costs. Since 2001, the U.S. military has emitted 1.2 billion metric tons of greenhouse gases.⁸⁷ It is the one of the world's top emitters and the single largest consumer of oil, making it a significant driver of climate change.⁸⁸ American taxpayers have incurred at least \$8 trillion to fund these post-9/11 counterterrorism wars—funds that could have been spent on achieving economic, racial, and environmental justice.⁸⁹

Twenty years of war have also resulted in increased militarization of our communities in the United States. The Department of Defense, inundated with weaponry from War on Terror-era spending spikes, funnels surplus military equipment to police departments nationwide through a federal scheme known as the 1033 Program.⁹⁰ Following the 9/11 attacks, transfers of military equipment to police departments "exploded," with \$1.6 billion in equipment transferred since the attacks, compared with \$27 million before.⁹¹

Rather than keeping Americans safe, the effects of these transfers have led to increased police violence, racialized control, and aggression, while eroding police legitimacy.⁹² In a study of the 1033 Program, Delehanty, Mewhirter, Welch, and Wilks found a correlation between transfers of miliary equipment and increased police killings of civilians.⁹³

Researchers at the Brown University Costs of War Project note the racialized use of such equipment in response to protests, discussing how "mine resistant vehicles, tear gas, and heavy weapons are consistently rolled out against Blackand Indigenous-led movements," including the Standing Rock and Black Lives Matter protests, in contrast to the majority-white Women's March.⁹⁴

The researchers note that the use of such "militaristic tactics and imagery breed fear and mistrust, particularly among poor and hyperpoliced communities of

An estimated 929,000 people have died as a direct result of these wars, including over 387,000 civilians and 7,052 U.S. servicemembers.

In a study of the 1033 Program, Delehanty, Mewhirter, Welch, and Wilks found a correlation between transfers of miliary equipment and increased police killings of civilians. color," undermining community policing efforts and potentially obstructing crime-solving "by rendering civilians less likely to cooperate with investigators."⁹⁵

The war paradigm has also been used to significantly erode human rights and civil liberties. Following the 9/11 attacks, approximately 1,200 men, nearly all Muslim, were detained for months without charge or trial until Department of Justice officials determined they had no connection to terrorist activity.⁹⁶ Dozens remain in the detention camp at Guantanamo Bay—the majority of whom have never been charged with a crime—while many current and former detainees were brutally tortured in CIA black sites.⁹⁷

The consequences of this horrific treatment and the failure to implement meaningful accountability continue to reverberate around the world. Indeed, the United National Special Rapporteur on the promotion and protection of human rights and fundamental freedoms while countering terrorism concluded that there was a "direct link between the failure to address the legacy and ongoing realities of post 9/11 torture and rendition with contemporary practices of mass arbitrary detention and torture."⁹⁸

Since 9/11, domestic law enforcement agencies have systematically targeted Muslims through surveillance⁹⁹ and entrapment,¹⁰⁰ often targeting the indigent and those with mental and intellectual disabilities.¹⁰¹ This aspect of the U.S.-led War on Terror is both a product of and an accelerant of xenophobia and Islamophobia in the United States.¹⁰² According to FBI data, anti-Muslim hate crimes in the United States increased from 28 to 481 incidents between 2000 and 2001,¹⁰³ and the annual number has never decreased to the levels seen pre-9/11.¹⁰⁴

Those who are wrongly perceived to be Muslim have also suffered under the War on Terror. For example, the Sikh Coalition estimates that Sikhs are hundreds of times more likely than their fellow Americans to be the victim of a hate crime in the United States, and the FBI reports that Sikhs are in the top five groups most often targeted for hate in the United States.¹⁰⁵

Americans have also lost ground in their democracy, as their voice on whether the United States goes to war has been ignored. According to a study by the Eurasia Group, 76% of Americans believe the president should seek congressional approval before ordering military action.¹⁰⁶

Yet over the last 20 years, Congress—the branch of government most responsible to the American people—has largely given up its constitutional duty to decide if and when the United States engages in hostilities. This relinquishment has allowed presidents to abuse existing authorities to carry out military operations without proper oversight or public engagement.¹⁰⁷ It's high time the U.S. government listen to the American people.

According to FBI data, anti-Muslim hate crimes in the United States increased from 28 to 481 incidents between 2000 and 2001, and the annual number has never decreased to the levels seen pre-9/11.

V. Conclusion

The War on Terror has clearly failed to achieve the goals for which it was purportedly launched. After 20 years of war, the annual number of terror attacks worldwide has significantly increased, terror groups have proliferated across the globe, and nearly 9,000,000 people have been killed. Militarized counterterrorism has caused direct war violence, mass displacement, rising Islamophobia, human rights abuses, and trillions of wasted dollars.

Continuing the same war-based approach to terrorism can never produce different results. After decades of restricting civil liberties, perpetuating violence, and violating human rights, the United States should consider an approach grounded in peacebuilding and diplomatic cooperation to promote civil and human rights, the rule of law, and the protection of civilians.

VI. What Members of Congress Can Do

The end of the War on Terror starts with Congress reasserting its constitutional war powers. Lawmakers must begin to chip away at the war paradigm by repealing the law that the executive branch cites as the primary legal basis to justify forever war. Congress passed the 2001 Authorization for Use of Military Force (AUMF) three days after the 9/11 attacks to authorize the president to use military force against the "nations, organizations, or persons he determines planned, authorized, committed, or aided the terrorist attacks that occurred on September 11" and those who harbored these entities.¹⁰⁸

Twenty years later, the executive branch has abused this law to justify lethal force operations in an ever-expanding list of countries, against groups that did not exist in 2001, with no end in sight.¹⁰⁹

For too long, Congress has declined to take back its power and to revoke the authorization that undergirds the disastrous War on Terror. Bills have been introduced in both houses—H.R. 255, sponsored by Rep. Barbara Lee (CA-13), and S.J.Res. 22, sponsored by Sen. Ben Cardin (MD)—to terminate the 2001 AUMF after eight or 12 months, leaving time to enact any new authorization Congress deems necessary.

By enacting this legislation, lawmakers can begin to dismantle the failed war paradigm by fulfilling their constitutional responsibility to debate and vote in every instance before the United States goes to war.

FURTHER READING

- » Al-Arian, A. The 'war on terror' and the disciplining of American Muslims. Retrieved from Al Jazeera. September 11, 2021.
- » Bergen, P. & Sterman, D. *Terrorism in America After 9/11*. Washington, D.C.: New America. September 10, 2021.
- » Chellaney, B. The Global War on Terrorism Has Failed. Here's How to Win. Retrieved from Foreign Policy. May 11, 2019.
- » Cordesman, A.H. *The Real World Capabilities* of ISIS: The Threat Continues. Washington, D.C.: Center for Strategic & International Studies. September 9, 2020.
- » Crawford, N. *The U.S. Budgetary Costs of the Post-9/11 Wars*. Providence, Rhode Island: Brown University. September 1, 2021.
- » Crawford, N. & Lutz, C. Human Cost of Post-9/11 Wars: Direct War Deaths in Major War Zones and Other Post-9/11 War Zones. Providence, Rhode Island: Brown University. September 1, 2021.
- » Davis, D.L. *Debunking the Safe Haven Myth.* Retrieved from Defense Priorities. May, 2020.
- » Gilsinan, K. *Killing Terrorist Leaders Gets Attention, But It Doesn't Stop Terrorism*.
 Retrieved from Defense One. October 28, 2019.
- » Grimm Arsenault, E. & Bacon, T. *Eliminating terrorist safe havens: One size does not fit all.* Washington, D.C.: Brookings Institute. April 6, 2015.
- » Hilal, M. (2019, May 31). There's a Simple Explanation for Racial Disparities in Terrorism Prosecutions: Racism.
 Washington, D.C.: Institute for Policy Studies.
- » Iyer, D. An honest reckoning with 9/11 and its aftermath can help us address today's generational crises. Retrieved from Prism. September 10, 2021.

- » Jones, S.G., Doxsee, C., & Harrington, N. *The Escalating Terrorism Problem in the United States*. Washington, D.C.: Center for Strategic & International Studies. June 17, 2020.
- » Jordan, J. Attacking the Leader, Missing the Mark: Why Terrorist Groups Survive Decapitation Strikes. Cambridge, Massachusetts: International Security. 2014.
- » Kattelman, K.T. Assessing success of the Global War on Terror: terrorist attack frequency and the backlash effect. United Kingdom: Dynamics of Asymmetric Conflict. July 27, 2019.
- » Mazzetti, M. Spy Agencies Say Iraq War Worsens Terrorism Threat. Retrieved from The New York Times. September 24, 2006.
- McNally, L. & Weinbaum, M.G. A Resilient Al-Qaeda in Afghanistan and Pakistan.
 Washington, D.C.: Middle East Institute.
 August, 2016.
- » Mueller, J. Public Opinion on War and Terror: Manipulated or Manipulating? Washington, D.C.: CATO Institute. August 10, 2021.
- » Oakley, D.P. & Proctor, P. Ten Years of GWOT, the Failure of Democratization and the Fallacy of "Ungoverned Spaces." Canada: Journal of Strategic Security. 2012.
- » Office of the Under Secretary of Defense for Acquisition, Technology, and Logistics. *Report* of the Defense Science Board Task Force on Strategic Communication. Washington, D.C.: Department of Defense. September, 2004).
- » Patel, F. The Costs of 9/11's Suspicionless Surveillance: Suppressing Communities of Color and Political Dissent. Retrieved from Just Security. September 8, 2021.

FURTHER READING (CONT.)

- » Piazza, J.A. & Hoi, S.W.C. International Military Interventions and Transnational Terrorist Backlash. United Kingdom: International Studies Quarterly. August 2, 2018.
- » Savell, S. The Costs of United States' Post-9/11 "Security Assistance": How Counterterrorism Intensified Conflict in Burkina Faso and Around the World. Providence, Rhode Island: Brown University. March 4, 2021.
- » Siemion, R., Shamsi, H., Mahanty, D.R., Brandon-Smith, H., Motaparthy, P., & Hawthorne, M. *Toward a New Approach to National and Human Security: End Unlawful, Secret, and Unaccountable Use of Lethal Force*. Retrieved from Just Security. September 11, 2020.
- » Sterman, D. *Endless War: A Term with a History and a Definition*. Washington, D.C.: New America. January, 2021.
- » The Sikh Coalition. *Hate Crime Tracking and Prevention*.
- » Thrall, A.T. & Goepner, E. Step Back: Lessons for U.S. Foreign Policy from the Failed "War on Terror." Washington, D.C.: Cato Institute. June 26, 2017.

- » United States Institute of Peace. Terror on the Internet: Questions and Answers.
- » Vine, D., Coffman, C., Khoury, K., Lovasz, M., Bush, H., Leduc, R., & Walkup, J. *Creating Refugees: Displacement Caused by the United States' Post-9/11 Wars*. Providence, Rhode Island: Brown University. August 19, 2021.
- » Vine, D. The United States of War: A Global History of America's Endless Conflicts, from Columbus to the Islamic State. Oakland, California: University of California Press. 2020.
- » Zenko, M. Challenging the Terrorist Safe Haven Myth. Washington, D.C.: Council on Foreign Relations. January 27, 2015.
- » Zenko, M. & Wolf, A.M. *The Myth of the Terrorist Safe Haven*. Retrieved from Foreign Policy. January 26, 2015.
- » Zimmerman, K. The Current US Approach to Terror Is a Recipe for Forever War. Retrieved from Defense One. October 30, 2019.

ENDNOTES

- 1. The White House. *Remarks by President Biden Before the 76th Session of the United Nations General Assembly.* September 21, 2021.
- 2. The White House. *Remarks by President Biden on the Drawdown of U.S. Forces in Afghanistan.* July 9, 2021.
- 3. Watson Institute for International and Public Affairs. *United States Counterterrorism Operations*, 2018-2020. Costs of War. February 2021.
- Stephanie Savell and 5W Infographics. Where We Fight. Costs of War. Watson Institute for International and Public Affairs.
- 5. Tore Hamming and Colin P. Clarke. *Over-the-Horizon Is Far Below Standard*. Foreign Policy. January 5, 2022.
- Jennifer Walkup Jayes. Beyond the War Paradigm. *Costs of War*. Watson Institute for International and Public Affairs. February 8, 2022.
- 7. Watson Institute for International and Public Affairs. *Estimate of U.S. Post/9-11 War Spending in \$Billions FY2001-2022.* Costs of War. September 1, 2021.
- 8. President George W. Bush. *Address to a Joint Session of Congress and the American People*. September 20, 2001.
- 9. World Trade Center bombing of 1993 terrorist attack, New York City, New York, United States. Britannica.
- 10. Ibid.
- Benjamin Weiser. *Mastermind Gets Life for Bombing of Trade Center*. New York Times. January 9, 1998.
- 12. Rebecca Hamilton. *The Path Not Taken: Reimagining the Post-9/11 World*. Just Security. September 7, 2021.
- 13. Tess Bridgeman. *Paradigm Shift: The Consequences of Choosing a War Path, and Leaving It.* Just Security. September 11, 2021.

- 14. Gary L. Gregg II. *George W. Bush: Foreign Affairs*. Miller Center.
- 15. Ben Saul. *The Legal Black Hole in United Nations Counterterrorism*. Global Observatory. June 2, 2021.
- 16. 18 U.S. Code § 2331.
- 17. Kiara Alfonseca. 20 *years after* 9/11, *Islamophobia continues to haunt Muslims*. ABC News. September 11, 2021.
- Jared Ahmad. 9/11: How politicians and the media turned terrorism into an Islamic issue. The Conversation. September 10, 2021.
- 19. U.S. Department of Homeland Security. *Homeland Threat Assessment: October* 2020; Peter Bergen and David Sterman. *What is the Threat to the United States Today? Terrorism in America After* 911. September 10, 2021.
- 20. The White House. *National Strategy for Combatting Terrorism*. September 2006; The White House, *National Strategy for Counterterrorism*, June 2011, p. 9.
- 21. United States Institute of Peace. *Preventing Extremism in Fragile States: A New Approach*. February 26, 2019.
- 22. A. Trevor Thrall and Erik Goepner. *Step Back: Lessons for U.S. Foreign Policy from the Failed War on Terror*. Policy Analysis No. 814. CATO Institute. June 26, 2017.
- 23. Stephen Watts, Trevor Johnston, Matthew Lane, Sean Mann, Michael J. McNerney, and Andrew Brooks. *Building Security in Africa: An Evaluation of U.S. Security Sector Assistance in Africa from the Cold War to the Present.*
- 24. Stephanie Savell. *The Costs of United States' Post-9/11 'Security Assistance': How Counterterrorism Intensified Conflict in Burkina Faso and Around the World*. Costs of War. Watson Institute for International and Public Affairs. March 4, 2021, p. 3.

- 25. Seth G. Jones. *The Evolution of the Salafi-Jihadist Threat: Current and Future Challenges from the Islamic State, Al-Qaeda, and Other Groups*. Center for Strategic and International Studies. November 20, 2018. .
- 26. Audrey Kurth Cronin. *The 'FTO List' and Congress: Sanctioning Designated Foreign Terrorist Organizations*. Congressional Research Service. October 21, 2003, p. 6; Department of State. *Foreign Terrorist Organizations*.
- 27. *Human Cost of 9/11 Wars*. Costs of War. Watson Institute for International and Public Affairs. September 2021.
- 28. Aishvarya Kavi. *House Democrats Ask Pentagon for Details on Plan to Reduce Civilian Casualties*. New York Times. March 15, 2022.
- Christoph Koettl, Evan Hill, Matthieu Aikins, Eric Schmitt, Ainara Tiefenthaläler, and Drew Jordan. *How a U.S. Drone Strike Killed the Wrong Person*. New York Times. September 10, 2021.
- 30. Daniel L. Davis. *Debunking the Safe Haven Myth*. Defense Priorities. May 6, 2020.
- 31. U.S. Congress. 911 Commission Report. National Commission on Terrorist Attacks Upon the United States. July 22, 2004; United States Institute of Peace. Terror on the Internet: Questions and Answers; Daniel L. Davis. Debunking the Safe Haven Myth. Defense Priorities. May 6, 2020.
- 32. Leah Farrell. *How al Qaeda Works*. Foreign Affairs. March/April 2011.
- 33. Marvin G. Weinbaum and Lauren McNally. *A Resilient Al-Qaeda in Afghanistan and Pakistan*. Middle East Institute. August 2016.
- 34. Congressional Research Service. *Al Qaeda: Background, Current Status, and U.S. Policy.* May 6, 2022.

- 35. International Crisis Group. Yemen's al-Qaeda: Expanding the Base. February 2, 2017; Congressional Research Service. Al Qaeda: Background, Current Status, and U.S. Policy. May 6, 2022; Homeland Security Today. Rewards for Justice: Reward Offer for Information on Aqim Leader Abu Ubaydah Yusef; Stanford University Center for International Security and Cooperation. Al Qaeda in the Indian Subcontinent. Mapping Militant Organizations. Last modified July 2018; Claire Felter, Jonathan Masters, and Mohammed Aly Sergie. Backgrounder: Al Shabab. Council on Foreign Relations. Last updated May 19, 2021.
- 36. Institute for Economics and Peace. *Global Terrorism Index 2020: Measuring the Impact of Terrorism*. November 2020.
- 37. Ibid.
- 38. Ibid.
- 39. Dominic Dudley. Terrorist Targets: *The Ten Countries Which Suffer Most from Terrorism*. Forbes. November 20, 2019; Congressional Research Service. *Table 1: U.S. Armed Forces and DOD-Funded Contractor Personnel in Afghanistan (Q4 FY2007-Q4 FY2020)*. Department of Defense Contractor and Troop Levels in Afghanistan and Iraq: 2007-2020. Updated February 22, 2021.
- 40. Institute for Economics and Peace. *Global Terrorism Index 2020: Measuring the Impact of Terrorism*. November 2020.
- Jenna Jordan. Attacking the Leader, Missing the Mark: Why Terrorist Groups Survive Decapitation Strikes. Quarterly Journal: International Security, vol. 38. no. 4. (Spring 2014): 7-38.
- 42. The White House. *Pursue Terrorist Threats to Their Source*. National Strategy for Counterterrorism of the United States. October 2018.

- 43. Bryan C. Price. *Targeting Top Terrorists: How Leadership Decapitation Leaders to Counterterrorism*. Quarterly Journal: International Security. vol. 36. no. 4 (Spring 2012).
- 44. Sarah Bimfim. *Al Qaeda: From Hierarchical to Decentralized Organization*. ArcGis StoryMaps. June 5, 2020.
- 45. Timothy Noah. *Al-Qaeda's Rule of Threes: Why Are We Always Killing Osama's 'No. 3' Operative*? Slate. June 1, 2010.
- 46. Michael Levenson. *What We Know About the Civilian Casualties Files*. New York Times. December 20, 2021.
- 47. Human Rights First. *Issue Brief: The Strategic Benefit of Minimizing Civilian Harm in Counterterrorism Strikes.* 2017.
- Kyle T. Kattleman. Assessing success of the Global War on Terror: terrorist attack frequency and the backlash effect. Dynamics of Asymmetric Conflict, vol. 13:1, 67-86, September 9, 2019.
- John Gershman and Ronald Bruce St. John. Blowback from Iraq War Is Global and Growing. Institute for Policy Studies. September 3, 2005.
- Charles Lewis and Mark Reading-Smith. *False Pretenses*. The Center for Public Integrity. January 23, 2008.
- 51. Sarhang Hamasaeed and Garrett Nada. *Iraq Timeline: Since the 2003 War*. United States Institute of Peace. May 29, 2020.
- 52. Stephanie Savell. The Costs of United States' Post-9/11 'Security Assistance': How Counterterrorism Intensified Conflict in Burkina Faso and Around the World. March 4, 2021. Costs of War. Watson Institute for International and Public Affairs.
- 53. Ibid.
- 54. Ibid.
- 55. Ibid.

- 56. Imogen Braddick. *Return of Terror: Over 200 massacred by al-Qaeda & ISIS in Africa caliphate amid fears UK faces wave of terror after Afghan collapse*. The U.S. Sun. August 24, 2021.
- 57. President George W. Bush. Address to Joint Session of Congress and the Nation.
 September 20, 2001.
- 58. President Barack Obama. *Remarks by the President on the Administration's Approach to Counterterrorism*. December 6, 2016; The White House. *President Donald J. Trump Is Protecting the Nation by Modernizing and Expanding Sanctions to Combat Terrorism*. September 10, 2019; *Joe Biden's meeting with Ashraf Ghani to ensure Afghanistan never again becomes 'safe haven' for terrorists: White House*. The Economic Times. June 22, 2021.
- 59. Daniel L. Davis. *Debunking the Safe Haven Myth.* May 6, 2020. Defense Priorities.
- 60. United States Institute of Peace. *Terror on the Internet: Questions and Answers.*
- National Commission on Terrorist Attacks Upon the United States. *911 Commission Report*. July 22, 2004; Douglas Frantz and Desmond Butler. *Germans Lay Out Early al Qaeda Ties to 9/11 Hijackers*. New York Times. August 24, 2002.
- 62. Daniel L. Davis. *Debunking the Safe Haven Myth.* May 6, 2020. Defense Priorities.
- 63. Financial Action Task Force. *Financing of Recruitment for Terrorism Purposes*. January 2018.
- 64. Kajal Saxena. Social Media: A Tool for Terrorism. Security Distillery. September 9, 2020; Daniel A. Gross. How ISIS recruits online using encryption, chat rooms and even dating sites. The World. May 13, 2020.
- 65. David J. Craig. *How ISIS Really Recruits Its Members*. Columbia Magazine. Fall 2019.

- 66. Leah Farrell. *How al Qaeda Works*. Foreign Affairs. March/April 2011.
- 67. Ibid.
- 68. Ibid.
- 69. Marvin G. Weinbaum and Lauren McNally. *A Resilient Al-Qaeda in Afghanistan and Pakistan*. Middle East Institute. August 2016.
- 70. Congressional Research Service. Al Qaeda: Background, Current Status, and U.S. Policy. May 6, 2022; International Crisis Group. Yemen's al-Qaeda: Expanding the Base. February 2, 2017; Homeland Security Today. Rewards for Justice: Reward Offer for Information on Aqim Leader Abu Ubaydah Yusef; Stanford University Center for International Security and Cooperation. Al Qaeda in the Indian Subcontinent. Mapping Militant Organizations. Last modified July 2018; Claire Felter, Jonathan Masters, and Mohammed Aly Sergie. Backgrounder: Al Shabab. Council on Foreign Relations. Last updated May 19, 2021.
- 71. Emmanuelle Saliba. You're More Likely to Die Choking Than Be Killed by Foreign Terrorists, Data Show. NBC News. February 1, 2017.
- 72. Peter Bergen and David Sterman. *What Is the Threat to the United States Today?* Terrorism in America After 9/11, New America. September 10, 2021.
- 73. Azmi Haroun. *Daily COVID-19 Death Toll in the U.S. Passes 3,000—More than the Death Toll from the 9/11 Tragedy.* Business Insider. December 9, 2020.
- 74. Harper Neidig and Rebecca Beitsch. *Biden* officials testify that white supremacists are greatest domestic security threat. The Hill. May 12, 2021.
- 75. Bruce Hoffman and Jacob Ware. *Terrorism and Counterterrorism Challenges for the Biden Administration*. CTC Sentinel, vol. 14, issue 1, January 2021.

- 77. Erik J. Dahl. *Assessing the Effectiveness of the Department of Homeland Security, 20 Years After 9/11*. Costs of War. Watson Institute for International and Public Affairs. November 7, 2021.
- 78. David Sterman. *Endless War: A Term with a History and a Definition*. Defining Endless Wars. New America. January 26, 2021.
- 79. Luke Hartig. *Playing Defense Is Totally Fine*. The Atlantic. September 26, 2021.
- 80. Ibid.
- 81. Jennifer Walkup Jayes. *Beyond the War Paradigm: What History Tells Us About How Terror Campaigns End.* Costs of War. Watson Institute for International and Public Affairs. February 8, 2022.
- US reliance on defence contractors led to mission failures. Aljazeera. September 13, 2021; A. Trevor Thrall and Caroline Dorminey. Risky Business: The Role of Arms Sales in U.S. Foreign Policy. Cato Institute. March 13, 2018.
- 83. Watson Institute for International and Public Affairs. *Millions Displaced by U.S. post-9/11 Wars*. Costs of War. August 19, 2021.
- 84. Watson Institute for International and Public Affairs. *Human Cost of 9/11 Wars*. Costs of War. September 2021.
- 85. Danielle DeSimone. *Military Suicide Rates Are at an All-Time High; Here's How We're Trying to Help.* USO. September 1, 2021.
- 86. Thomas Howard Suitt, III. *High Suicide Rates among United States Service Members and Veterans of the Post- 9/11 Wars*. Costs of War. Watson Institute for International and Public Affairs. June 21, 2021.
- 87. Neta C. Crawford. *Pentagon Fuel Use, Climate Change, and the Costs of War*. Costs of War. Watson Institute for International and Public Affairs. November 13, 2019.
- 88. Ibid.

76. Ibid.

- 89. Neta C. Crawford. *The U.S. Budgetary Costs of the Post-9/11 Wars. Costs of War*. Watson Institute for International and Public Affairs. September 1, 2021.
- 90. Kimberly Rolle. *The Militarization of US Law Enforcement and Civilian Harm.* January 13, 2021.
- 91. Jessica Katzenstein. *The Wars Are Here: How the United States' Post-9/11 Wars Helped Militarize U.S. Police. Costs of War.* Watson Institute for International and Public Affairs. September 16, 2020.
- 92. Ibid.
- 93. Casey Delehanty, Jay Mewhirter, and Ryan Welch. *Militarization and police violence: The case of the 1033 program*. Research and Politics, vol. 4, issue 2.
- 94. Jessica Katzenstein. *The Wars Are Here: How the United States' Post-9/11 Wars Helped Militarize U.S. Police*. Costs of War. Watson Institute for International and Public Affairs, September 16, 2020; Lavanya Ramanathan. *"Was the Women's March just another display of white privilege? Some think so."* Washington Post. January 24, 2017.
- 95. Jessica Katzenstein. *The Wars Are Here: How the United States' Post-9/11 Wars Helped Militarize U.S. Police*. Costs of War. Watson Institute for International and Public Affairs. September 16, 2020.
- 96. Human Rights Watch. *Presumption of Guilt: Human Rights Abuses of Post-September 11 Detainees*. August 2002.
- 97. The Guantanamo Docket. New York Times. May 5, 2022; U.S. Senate. Committee Study of the Central Intelligence Agency's Detention and Interrogation Program. April 3, 2014.
- 98. The Office of the High Commissioner for Human Rights. *UN expert calls on States to ensure accountability, transparency and access to sites of secret detention*. United Nations.

- 99. ACLU. Factsheet: The NYPD Muslim Surveillance Program.
- 100. Human Rights Watch. US: Terrorism Prosecutions Often an Illusion.
- 101. Human Rights Watch. US: Terrorism Prosecutions Often an Illusion.
- 102. Khaled A. Beydoun. *Exporting Islamophobia in the Global 'War on Terror.*' New York Law Review Online, vol. 95:81. 2020.
- 103. Kuang Keng Kuek Ser. *Data: Hate crimes against Muslims increased after 9/11.* The World, September 12, 2016.
- 104. Ibid.
- 105. The Sikh Coalition. *Hate Crime Tracking and Prevention*.
- 106. Mark Hannah, Caroline Gray, and Lucas Robinson. *Inflection Point: Americans' Foreign Policy Views After Afghanistan, Eurasia Group Foundation*. September 2021.
- 107. Heather Brandon-Smith. 2001 AUMF and 2002 AUMFs. The President's War Powers: Article II War Powers and the Authorizations for Use of Military. Friends Committee on National Legislation.

108. Ibid.

109. Ibid.



245 2ND STREET NE » WASHINGTON, DC 20002 FCNL.ORG » PHONE: (800) 630-1330 » FAX: (202) 547-6019

The Friends Committee on National Legislation is a national nonprofit, nonpartisan Quaker organizations working collectively to advance peace, justice, and environmental stewardship. FCNL seeks to live Quaker values of integrity, simplicity, and peace as we actively create the world we seek.

For more information, please contact Heather Brandon-Smith, FCNL legislative director for militarism and human rights at *hbrandonsmith@fcnl.org*.

